
Gareth Owens LL.B Barrister/Bargyfreithiwr
Chief Officer (Governance)
Prif Swyddog (Llywodraethu)

1

CS/NG

Dydd Iau, 10 Mehefin 2021

Jan Kelly / 01352 702301
janet.kelly@flintshire.gov.uk

At: Cyng Chris Bithell (Cadeirydd)

Cynghorwyr: Janet Axworthy, Marion Bateman, Paul Cunningham, 
Adele Davies-Cooke, Colin Legg, Dave Mackie a Ian Roberts

ENWADAU CREFYDDOL:

Cynrychiolwyr yr Eglwys yng Nghymru (esgobaeth Llanelwy)
Roz Williams (Swyddfa’r Diocesan) a 
Marina Parsons (Pennaeth Ysgol Trelawnyd)

Cynrychiolwyr Catholig
Wendy White a John Morgan(Ysgol Gynradd Gatholid St Anthony)

Eglwys Bresbyteraidd Cymru (Saesneg – Presbytri Swydd Gaer Fflint a Dinbych
Rev. Huw Powell Davies

CYMDEITHASAU ATHRAWON:

Penaethiaid Uwchradd
Catherine McCormack – Is-gadeirydd (Ysgol Uwchradd Gatholig  St Richard 
Gwyn)

Ffederasiwn Penaethiaid Cynradd
Simon Piercy (Ysgol  School)

Arbenigwr AG Uwchradd
Lyn Oakes (Ysgol Uwchradd Alun)

Cynrychiolydd Ysgol Arbennig
1 x Swydd wag

Cynrychiolydd Coleg VI Glannau Dyfrdwy
1 x Swydd wag

Athrawon Dosbarth Cynradd
Amira Mattar (Ysgol Gynradd Gymunedol Westwood )

Pecyn Dogfen Gyhoeddus



2

Annwyl Syr / Fadam

Bydd cyfarfod o’r CYSAG SIR Y FLINT yn cael ei gynnal yng ANGHYSBELL DYDD 
MERCHER, 16EG MEHEFIN, 2021 am 4.00 PM i ystyried yr eitemau canlynol.

Yn gywir

Robert Robins
Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd

Sylwch: Bydd hwn yn gyfarfod dros y we a bydd ‘presenoldeb’ wedi’i gyfyngu i 
Aelodau’r Pwyllgor a’r Aelodau hynny o’r Cyngor sydd wedi gofyn i Bennaeth y 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd am wahoddiad. Y Cadeirydd fydd yn penderfynu a 
yw’r rhain yn cael siarad ai peidio.

Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei ffrydio’n fyw ar wefan y Cyngor. Bydd recordiad o’r 
cyfarfod ar gael yn fuan ar ôl y cyfarfod ar https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home

Os oes gennych unrhyw ymholiadau, cysylltwch ag aelod o’r Tîm Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd ar 01352 702345.

R H A G L E N

1 YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

2 DATGAN CYSYLLTIAD: COD YMDDYGIAD LLYWODRAETH LEOL 
Caiff Aelodau eu hatgoffa fod rhaid iddynt ddatgan bodolaeth a natur y cysyllt-
iad personol y maent yn ei ddatgan.

3 COFNODION (Tudalennau 5 - 10)
Cymeradwyo a chadarnhau bod cofnodion y cyfarfod diwethaf yn gywir a 10 
Chwefror 2021.

https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home


3

4 DERBYN DIWEDDARIAD AM Y CYFARFOD CCYSAGC A GYNHALIWYD 
AR 23 MAWRTH 2021 
Derbyn diweddariad llafar yn y cyfarfod gan Vicky Barlow, Uwch Reolwr 
Gwella Ysgolion, Portffolio Addysg ac Ieuenctid.

5 YMGYNGHORIAD LLYWODRAETH CYMRU AR GANLLAWIAU 
CWRICWLWM CYMRU YNGHYLCH CREFYDD, GWERTHOEDD A 
MOESEG (Tudalennau 11 - 32)
I drafod ymateb gan Gynghorau Ymgynghorol Sefydlog ar Addysg Grefyddol 
i’r ymgynghoriad.

6 GOHEBIAETH 

7 CYFARFODYDD YN Y DYFODOL 
Yn y dyfodol bydd cyfarfodydd CYSAG SIR Y FLINT  yn cael eu cynnal am 
4.00 pm ar

Dydd Iau   7fed Hydref 2021 
Dydd Iau   25ain Tachwedd 2021 
Dydd Mercher 9fed Chwefror 2022 
Dydd Mercher 8fed  Mehefin 2022



4

Nodyn Gweithdrefnol ar redeg cyfarfodydd

Bydd y Cadeirydd yn agor y cyfarfodydd ac yn cyflwyno eu hunain.

Bydd nifer o Gynghorwyr yn mynychu cyfarfodydd. Bydd swyddogion hefyd yn 
mynychu cyfarfodydd i gyflwyno adroddiadau, gyda swyddogion Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd yn trefnu a chynnal y cyfarfodydd.  

Gofynnir i bawb sy’n mynychu i sicrhau bod eu ffonau symudol wedi diffodd a bod 
unrhyw sain gefndirol yn cael ei gadw mor dawel â phosib.  

Dylai’r holl feicroffonau gael eu rhoi “ar miwt” yn ystod y cyfarfod a dim ond pan 
fyddwch yn cael eich gwahodd i siarad gan y Cadeirydd y dylid eu rhoi ymlaen. Pan 
fydd gwahoddedigion wedi gorffen siarad dylen nhw roi eu hunain yn ôl “ar miwt”.

Er mwyn mynegi eu bod nhw eisiau siarad bydd Cynghorwyr yn defnyddio’r 
cyfleuster ‘chat’ neu yn defnyddio’r swyddogaeth ‘raise hand’ sy’n dangos eicon codi 
llaw electronig. Mae’r swyddogaeth ‘chat’ hefyd yn gallu cael ei ddefnyddio i ofyn 
cwestiynau, i wneud sylwadau perthnasol ac yn gyfle i’r swyddog gynghori neu 
ddiweddaru’r cynghorwyr.

Bydd y Cadeirydd yn galw ar y siaradwyr, gan gyfeirio at aelod etholedig fel 
‘Cynghorydd’ a swyddogion yn ôl eu teitl swydd h.y. Prif Weithredwr neu enw.  O 
bryd i’w gilydd mae’r swyddog sy’n cynghori’r Cadeirydd yn egluro pwyntiau 
gweithdrefnol neu’n awgrymu geiriad arall ar gyfer cynigion er mwyn cynorthwyo’r 
Pwyllgor. 

Os, a phan y cynhelir pleidlais, mi fydd y Cadeirydd yn egluro mai dim ond y rheiny 
sy’n gwrthwynebu’r cynnig/cynigion, neu sy’n dymuno ymatal a fydd angen mynegi 
hynny drwy ddefnyddio’r swyddogaeth ‘chat’.  Bydd y swyddog sy’n cynghori’r 
Cadeirydd yn mynegi os bydd y cynigion yn cael eu derbyn. 

Os oes angen pleidlais fwy ffurfiol, bydd hynny yn ôl galwad enwau – lle gofynnir i 
bob Cynghorydd yn ei dro (yn nhrefn yr wyddor) sut mae ef / hi yn dymuno 
pleidleisio.

Yng nghyfarfodydd Pwyllgorau Cynllunio a Chyngor Sir mae amseroedd siaradwyr 
yn gyfyngedig.  Bydd cloch yn cael ei chanu i roi gwybod i’r siaradwyr bod ganddyn 
nhw funud ar ôl. 

Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei ffrydio’n fyw ar wefan y Cyngor.  Bydd recordiad o’r 
cyfarfod ar gael yn fuan ar ôl y cyfarfod ar https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home

https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home


FLINTSHIRE SACRE COMMITTEE
10 FEBRUARY 2021

Minutes of the meeting of the SACRE Committee of Flintshire County Council held 
via webex on the 10 February 2021

IN ATTENDANCE:

Elected Members:  
Cllr Chris Bithell (CB) (Chair)
Cllr Dave Mackie (DM)
Cllr Colin Legg (CL)
Cllr Paul Cunningham (PC)
Cllr Janet Axworthy (JA)

Education Representatives   
Vicky Barlow (VB) – Senior Manager School Improvement  
Claire Homard (CH) - Chief Officer Education & Youth 

Church in Wales Representatives (St Asaph Diocese) - Marina Parsons 
(Headteacher Trelawynd)

Roman Catholic Representatives -John Morgan (St Anthony’s Catholic Primary 
School)

Presbyterian Church of Wales  -Rev. Huw Powell Davies

Teacher Associations:
Primary Heads Federation - Simon Percy (Golftyn School)
Secondary RE Specialist -Lyn Oakes (Alun High School)
Primary Classroom Teachers- Amira Mattar (Westwood CP School)

Also in attendance- Kim Brookes, Senior Manager, Education & Youth (Clerk)

Cllr B welcomed colleagues to the first SACRE meeting to be held virtually and invited 
colleagues to introduce themselves. 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Catherine McCormack; Cllr Ian Roberts; Gareth Jones

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: CODE OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CONDUCT

None declared

Tudalen 5

Eitem ar gyfer y Rhaglen 3



3. MINUTES 

To receive the minutes of meeting held on 26 February 2020.

Proposed DM, seconded CB accepted as a true record.  

Matters arising: 
VB proposed that Ysgol Y Foel be invited to share their work at a future meeting. 
WASACRE meeting duly cancelled on the 17 March 2020 due to the pandemic.

4 ANALYSIS OF ESTYN INSPECTION REPORTS  

VB referred to the report circulated with the agenda on the analysis of inspection 
reports published in autumn term 2019 and spring term 2020. Due to the pandemic 
Estyn have paused inspections in schools. She reported that Jayne Borthwick, 
Primary Adviser was working to encourage schools to share their good practice. Cllr 
B welcomed the report. In response to PC, VB confirmed that whilst Estyn are not 
allowed to inspect religious character she would look to share examples from all our 
church schools. 

Action: VB to work with Diocese leads to share good practice from their schools. JM 
agreed to share example of work from his school.

5. TO RECEIVE AN UPDATE ON WASACRE MEETING HELD ON 7TH OCTOBER 
2020

VB reported verbally that both spring and summer term meetings of WASACRE were 
cancelled in response to the coronavirus situation. The autumn term meeting was 
held online via the Microsoft Teams platform and the AGM was also held on the 
same day.  This was the 25th year of WASACRE. 

Key points arising from the Autumn term meeting:

 Discussion regarding the Framework for RE –  see agenda item below 
 Ongoing discussion with Wales Government (WG) regarding provision of 

specialist support and training for RE across Wales in preparation for the new 
Curriculum. At a  meeting with WG and Officers of the WASACRE Executive on 
18th June it was confirmed that there would be funding for a professional learning 
package for a suite of resources specifically for RE, plus training for all those 
involved in teaching RE and training of ITT students. The need for training for 
non-maintained settings specifically was also recognized. WASACRE has also 
agreed to fund a conference to train teachers in using the RVE Framework. 
Given the new circumstances, it was proposed that this would take place online.

Tudalen 6



 Information presented regarding adaptations proposed for GCSE and A Level 
Religious Studies examinations for summer 2021 – now superceded by the 
Minister’s decision regarding Centre Determined Grades. 

 Consideration being given to training for advisors and SACRE clerks and a 
suitable paragraph to  be included in the revised SACRE handbook, as well as 
including a glossary covering terms pertaining to RE.

 It was noted that it had become evident that some teachers working in Wales are 
seeking advice from organisations that are based in England. It was recognised 
that WASACRE needs to raise its profile as an organisation and in turn ensure 
that teachers are aware of their local SACRE which can offer them advice. The 
WASACRE Twitter account is being more frequently used and a Facebook page 
is being created.  The new WASACRE website is also currently being 
constructed.

 AGM meeting Election of Members to The Executive; 20 SACREs sent in a 
voting return. These had been collated and verified by an independent person.  
Vice Chair – there were 3 nominations –Tania ap Sion elected.  Executive 
Committee – the two successful nominations – Phil Lord and John Meredith.

 The next meeting is 23 March and we have up to three representatives from our 
SACRE who can attend. Members are asked to note that all papers from the 
meeting can be viewed at http://www.wasacre.org.uk/meetings.html.

 WASACRE and the National Advisory Panel for RE (NAPfRE) continue to 
communicate regularly about developments and future plans.

6. TO RECEIVE AN UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENT OF THE SUPPORTING 
FRAMEWORK FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION IN PREPARATION FOR 
CURRICULUM WALES 2022

VB provided a verbal update concerning the ongoing work by WASACRE and 
NAPfRE considering and responding to the developments relating directly to RE 
within the new curriculum for Wales.  Representatives from the WASACRE 
Executive Committee met with Welsh Government colleagues and others on a 
number of occasions throughout last year. Welsh Government colleagues have also 
attended WASACRE and WASACRE Executive meetings, and have given updates 
on progress.

Welsh Government colleagues assured the Executive that the draft framework would 
be published in autumn 2020.  At the WASACRE meeting in October, NAPFRE 
Chair reported that she had last worked on the Framework in June 2020 at which 
point she felt it was ready for circulation to SACREs. The document was then passed 
to the legal department in WG. VB reported that it was still to be established when it 
will be shared with SACREs and confirm its subsequent publication date. 

The intention was for the document to be produced in collaboration with SACREs so 
that they can feel shared ownership of the document and embrace its adoption as 

Tudalen 7



the Local Authority’s agreed Syllabus. SACREs should have opportunity to respond 
to the document before it is published in its final form.

 WASACRE agreed to write to WG to state its disappointment that the Framework 
has still not been published. WASACRE noted the need however to recognise and 
acknowledge the additional challenges and time pressures that WG personnel are 
currently facing as they are currently required to work on other issues in relation to 
responding to the pandemic.

Since then, the Executive have had a meeting in December with WG colleagues who 
assured them it would be released in January. However, this has not yet happened. 
The Executive have now been invited to a further meeting with WG next week. The 
document has been officially edited by curriculum editors so hopefully as we move 
towards Easter there will be a draft document ready to share with SACREs. 

It was proposed and agreed that this group should be given an opportunity to 
respond to the draft document via a special meeting and report back to the June 
SACRE meeting. 

Action: additional meeting to be convened by VB, date to be confirmed.  

JA joined the meeting 16.25pm

7. DISTANCE LEARNING

Cllr B welcomed the efforts of schools at this time and enquired how religious and 
moral education had continued.  VB advised that the basic curriculum requirements 
for Wales, and associated assessment arrangements for schools and non-
maintained nursery settings, have been amended as part of the Coronavirus Act 
2020, subject to monthly reviews. Schools must make all reasonable endeavours to 
fulfil their curriculum duties. There has been no detailed analysis of individual 
subjects across schools but GwE have worked with schools to look at blended 
learning and provided reports to Education Scrutiny Committee.

VB advised that this means schools should do everything they reasonably can to 
teach to the full curriculum duties. If after taking all reasonable steps schools have 
not fulfilled their curriculum requirements then they will be considered to have met 
their legislative duties. 

WG operational guidance states with particular reference to Collective Worship that 
“Groups should be kept apart, meaning that schools should avoid gatherings such as 
assemblies or collective worship with more than one group”.

Schools across Wales have developed a ‘Blended Learning’ approach to teaching 
and learning to accommodate pupils who are learning in different environments – at 
home or at school due to the pandemic. The four consortia and Estyn have produced 

Tudalen 8



models of blended learning. RE Learning Networks are also working on material and 
resources have been shared on Hwb. There is now an emphasis on producing 
quality resources to promote the best practice in RE as well as on progression, since 
this continues to be a necessary model of learning. There are also examples of RE 
in the Estyn and Consortia Blended Learning guidance document.

Schools were holding virtual assemblies for classes, year group and even whole 
school when in school last term. More challenging with remote learning. 

Cllr B enquired how schools have approached wellbeing of children. SP advised that 
in his school they have recorded assemblies via SeeSaw for parents and pupils on 
wellbeing and RE related, with weekly activities that families can take together. LO 
reported that the Diocese have produced really good supporting resources which 
can be shared at school or at home and cited the Xmas celebrations which were 
shared virtually.  JC reported that he had received good advice from the GWe RE 
Challenge Adviser and his school had built a church from lego. 

 VB reported that some schools are still delivering assemblies online and producing 
resources for pupils; e.g. Holocaust Memorial Day and Children’s Mental Health 
Week.  WASACRE have produced some guidance for schools. 

HPD welcomed how schools have been using the resources and advised that 
resources were available from the Presbyterian Church Wales bilingually. He 
reported that unfortunately an officer from the Scripture Union Trust had been made 
redundant it had become a role for churches together to support children and 
families. 

WASACRE agreed to a small working party to produce a paper on supporting 
schools with Collective Worship during the Coronavirus crisis, which was published 
in early July and shared with SACREs. This document is available bilingually on the 
WASACRE website www.wasacre.org.uk. The Executive has also considered the 
value of the working party producing a similar paper for RE during the Coronavirus 
Crisis;   

There are also a wide range of resources being added to the WJEC digital website to 
assist teachers with blended learning.

Cllr B was encouraged by the work shown especially during the time when pupils 
were out of school. CH also acknowledged the tremendous work of schools in 
supporting wellbeing of children which is a vital part of the blended learning offer. 

8. CORRESPONDENCE

None received. 

Tudalen 9



9. FUTURE MEETINGS

Date of next meeting: Wednesday, 16 June 2021 at 4 pm via webex

Meeting ended 16.55pm

Tudalen 10



 

Number: WG42686 
 

Curriculum for Wales Religion, Values and 
Ethics (RVE) guidance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Date of issue: 21 May 2021 
Action required: Responses by 16 July 2021 

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.  
This document is also available in Welsh. 
 
 

  © Crown copyright 

Welsh Government  

Consultation Document 
 

Tudalen 11

Eitem ar gyfer y Rhaglen 5



 

 

 
 
Overview 

Curriculum for Wales Religion, Values 
and Ethics (RVE) guidance   
 
The Curriculum for Wales Framework was published 
on 28 January 2020. Before its publication, the 
Framework was subject to broad and extensive 
consultation. Feedback received signalled what 
specific, additional guidance schools and settings 
would require in order to successfully design and 
realise their own curriculum. Welsh Government 
committed to publishing: 
 

 guidance for Religion, Values and Ethics  

 guidance for relationships and sexuality education  

 guidance on careers and work-related experiences  

 guidance to support practitioners working with 
learners at the beginning of the learning continuum  

 a curriculum and assessment framework for 
funded non-maintained nursery settings to adopt  

 guidance on developing a curriculum for those 
responsible for education other than at school  

 guidance on British Sign Language.  
 
This feedback phase welcomes your views on the 
additional Curriculum for Wales guidance for Religion, 
Values, and Ethics (RVE).   
 
The draft guidance has been developed by 
practitioners through a process of co-construction that 
has been supported by other experts. This feedback 
phase forms part of the co-construction process. It 
provides an opportunity for all practitioners and other 
stakeholders to offer input that will support the further 
development of the guidance. 
 
This feedback phase will end on 16 July 2021, after 
which all responses will be considered and analysed 
independently, as well by practitioners and others in 
the working groups. The draft guidance will then be 
refined in response to the feedback and will form part 
of an update to the Curriculum for Wales Framework 
in autumn 2021, to be used by schools and settings as 
a tool for curriculum planning, design and 
implementation.  
 
All your feedback will be gratefully received. 
 
 

Tudalen 12



 

 

How to respond Responses to this consultation should be e-mailed/ 
posted to the address below to arrive by 16 July at the 
latest. 
 

Further information 
and related 
documents 
 
 

Large print, Braille and alternative language 
versions of this document are available on 
request. 
 
The published Curriculum for Wales guidance is 
available at 
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales  
 
An easy read version is available at 
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/a-new-
curriculum-in-wales-easy-read/   
 
A children, young people and families guide is 
available at 
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/a-new-
curriculum-in-wales-a-guide-for-children-young-
people-and-families/ 
 
The consultation documents can be accessed from 
the Welsh Government’s website at 
gov.wales/consultations 
 
 

Contact details For further information: 
 
Curriculum Realisation Unit 
Curriculum and Assessment Division  
The Education Directorate  
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park  
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 
 
e-mail: Mailbox: curriculumforwales@gov.wales 

 
              
         @WG_Education 
 
 
 Facebook/EducationWales 

Tudalen 13

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/a-new-curriculum-in-wales-easy-read/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/a-new-curriculum-in-wales-easy-read/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/a-new-curriculum-in-wales-a-guide-for-children-young-people-and-families/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/a-new-curriculum-in-wales-a-guide-for-children-young-people-and-families/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/a-new-curriculum-in-wales-a-guide-for-children-young-people-and-families/
https://beta.gov.wales/consultations
mailto:curriculumforwales@gov.wales


 

 

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

The Welsh Government will be data controller for any personal data you provide as part of 
your response to the consultation. Welsh Ministers have statutory powers they will rely on to 
process this personal data which will enable them to make informed decisions about how 
they exercise their public functions. Any response you send us will be seen in full by Welsh 
Government staff dealing with the issues which this consultation is about or planning future 
consultations. Where the Welsh Government undertakes further analysis of consultation 
responses then this work may be commissioned to be carried out by an accredited third party 
(e.g. a research organisation or a consultancy company). Any such work will only be 
undertaken under contract. Welsh Government’s standard terms and conditions for such 
contracts set out strict requirements for the processing and safekeeping of personal data. 

In order to show that the consultation was carried out properly, the Welsh Government 
intends to publish a summary of the responses to this document. We may also publish 
responses in full. Normally, the name and address (or part of the address) of the person or 
organisation who sent the response are published with the response. If you do not want your 
name or address published, please tell us this in writing when you send your response. We 
will then redact them before publishing. 

You should also be aware of our responsibilities under Freedom of Information legislation 

If your details are published as part of the consultation response then these published reports 
will be retained indefinitely. Any of your data held otherwise by Welsh Government will be 
kept for no more than three years. 

 

Your rights 

Under the data protection legislation, you have the right: 

 to be informed of the personal data held about you and to access it 

 to require us to rectify inaccuracies in that data 

 to (in certain circumstances) object to or restrict processing 

 for (in certain circumstances) your data to be ‘erased’ 

 to (in certain circumstances) data portability 

 to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who is our 
independent regulator for data protection. 

 
 
For further details about the information 
the Welsh Government holds and its use, 
or if you want to exercise your rights under 
the GDPR, please see contact details 
below: 
Data Protection Officer: 
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 
 
e-mail: Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales 

The contact details for the Information 
Commissioner’s Office are:  
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire 
SK9 5AF 
 
Tel: 01625 545 745 or  
0303 123 1113 
Website: https://ico.org.uk/ 
 

Tudalen 14

mailto:Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales
https://ico.org.uk/


 

 
 

Curriculum for Wales Religion, Values and Ethics (RVE) 
guidance  
 
The following is the draft guidance on which we are inviting feedback. 
 
 

1. Introduction  
 
RVE will be a statutory requirement in the Curriculum for Wales for all learners from age 3 
to 16.  
 
The RVE guidance is statutory and published under section 71 of the Curriculum and 
Assessment (Wales) Act (“the Act”) and is designed to assist those responsible under the 
Act for designing the RVE syllabus as part of the school curriculum.  
 
Audience 
 
Those persons who must have regard to the guidance when designing a syllabus for RVE 
are set out below: 
 

(a) the head teacher of a maintained school or a maintained nursery school 
(b) the governing body of a maintained school or a maintained nursery school 
(c) a provider of funded non-maintained nursery education 
(d) the teacher in charge of a pupil referral unit 
(e) the management committee for a pupil referral unit 
(f) a person who provides teaching and learning for a child, otherwise than at a 

maintained school, maintained nursery school or pupil referral unit, by virtue of 
arrangements made under section 19A of the Education Act 1996 (c. 56) 

(g) a local authority in Wales. 
 

The persons/bodies responsible for designing a settings RVE syllabus and set out above 

must read and consider the guidance when designing the RVE element of a school’s 

curriculum pursuant to the Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021.   

 

This guidance is directed at a local authority when exercising its functions under that section 

in adopting an agreed syllabus. Local authorities must have regard to this guidance 

pursuant to section 375A (8) of the Education Act 1996. 

 

This guidance is also directed at Standing Advisory Councils for religious education (SACs) 

pursuant to section 391 (11) of the Education Act 1996. Therefore, a SAC must have regard 

to this guidance when exercising its functions advising a local authority on RVE.  

 

The guidance is directed at those responsible for preparing an Agreed Syllabus namely: 
 

 the local authority 

 the Agreed Syllabus Conference (ASC) 

 the body of persons established by the Welsh Ministers under paragraph 12 of 
Schedule 31 to the Education Act 1996 to prepare an Agreed Syllabus when the ASC 
has been unable to do.   

 

Tudalen 15



 

 
 

Pursuant to paragraph 14A of Schedule 31 to the 1996 Act those bodies must have regard 
to this guidance. 
 

In addition, the guidance may also be useful to practitioners, regional consortia, awarding 

bodies, Estyn, teacher unions, religious organisations, parents and other bodies in Wales 

with an interest in RVE. These bodies do not have to have regard to the guidance but it may 

be useful and informative for them to refer to it to better understand the content of a given 

settings RVE syllabus. 

 
From 2022 religious education will be renamed ‘Religion, values and ethics’ to more 
accurately reflect the broad scope of the subject’s pluralistic requirement, and position 
within the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience..  
 
Learners will have opportunities to explore all RVE concepts through a variety of lenses and 
will explore the importance of RVE’s relationship with other aspects of life, society and the 
world. Understanding the concept of religion will enable learners to build a well-rounded 
understanding of religion, and the significance of the different ways that it is defined. 
 
RVE in the curriculum is not about making learners religious or non-religious; its teaching 
therefore must promote openness, impartiality and respect for others through an objective, 
critical and pluralistic approach. 

 
 
2. RVE and legislation  

Curriculum & Assessment (Wales) Act  
 
Locally agreed syllabus  
 
An agreed syllabus specifies what is recommended to be taught in RVE within a local 
authority and should be reviewed from time to time and in any event, no later than the expiry 
of five years from when it was last adopted or when it was last agreed the current syllabus 
would be continued. Each local authority has a legal duty to convene an agreed syllabus 
conference to review the syllabus and to recommend an appropriate syllabus to the local 
authority for it to adopt. They will need to ensure that they have regard to the Curriculum for 
Wales and the RVE supporting guidance when recommending an agreed syllabus for 
adoption by a local authority.  
 
Once this has been agreed, all maintained schools and settings are required to have regard 
to the agreed syllabus, including in schools of a religious character in their design of the 
agreed syllabus element of their RVE provision. 
 
The Act inserts a new Wales only section 375A into the Education Act 1996.  Section 375A 
of the 1996 Act provides that a local authority must adopt an agreed syllabus /syllabi for its 
area which: 
 

 must reflect the fact that the religious traditions in Wales are in the main Christian 

while taking account of the teaching and practices of the other principal religions 

represented in Wales; and 

 must also reflect the fact that a range of non-religious philosophical convictions are 

held in Wales 

Tudalen 16



 

 
 

The Act further provides that the reference to philosophical convictions is to philosophical 
convictions within the meaning of Article 2 Protocol 1 to the European Convention on 
Human Rights (“A2P1”). 
 
Meaning of religion: 
As noted above The Act requires the Agreed Syllabus element of RVE to be designed to 
include the mandatory element of Religion, Values and Ethics. What is meant by that is 
clarified in section 390A of the 1996 Act which refers to religious traditions. In summary 
what must be included is a range of different religions. The term “religion” in this context is 
given its conventional or ordinary meaning and as conventionally understood. We regard a 
religion to have the following characteristics: 
 

 the followers have a belief in a supreme being (the concept of a supreme being 

includes but is not limited to the longstanding concept of a monotheistic Christian 

God);  

 the followers take part in worship of that supreme being, that is acts or practices in 

which they give expression to their belief in the supreme being and show reverence 

for, or veneration of, it; and,  

 the organisation advances that religion through its activities. 

 
Meaning of non-religious philosophical convictions: 
The Act also requires the Agreed Syllabus element of RVE to also include non-religious 
philosophical convictions.  This relates to the Value and Ethics element in the title to this 
new subject. As noted above the term philosophical convictions is drawn down from A2 P1.  
 
The Courts have held that when taken on its own, it is not synonymous with the terms 
“opinions” and “ideas”. It denotes views that attain a certain level of cogency, seriousness, 
cohesion and importance (Valsamis v. Greece, §§ 25 and 27). The refusal of parents to 
accept corporal punishment at their child’s school was thus covered by their philosophical 
convictions. 
 
We refer to “non-religious philosophical convictions” and not “philosophical convictions” as 
we consider any religious philosophical conviction is simply a religion and that is expressly 
already covered by The Act1. 
 
On the other hand the courts have rejected the argument that a pro-hunting beliefs are 
protected by Article 9 despite people’s strong convictions that they have the right to hunt 
with hounds as this lack the importance as an aspect of human life and behaviour 
necessary to render it a philosophical belief that a particular form of leisure activity should 
be permitted (R v Countryside Alliance) V A-G. 
 
The above refers to a number of cases on Article 9 which refers to “religion or beliefs” 
Article 9 and A2P1 apply to the same range of views/beliefs/convictions.  For example 
paragraph 7 of the European Court of Human Right’s guide on A2P1, states that: “The 
Convention must be read as a whole and Article 2 of Protocol No. 1 constitutes, at least in 
its second sentence, the  interpretation  in relation to Article 9 in matters of education and 

                                            
1 The term “non-religious philosophical convictions” is not used in A2P1 but was used in case considering A2P1 (Lautsi 
and others v Italy (App. No. 30814/06) - [2011] ECHR 30814/06).  There had been nothing to suggest that the authorities 
had been intolerant of pupils who believed in other religions, were non-believers or who held non-religious 
philosophical convictions. 

Tudalen 17



 

 
 

teaching (Folgerø and Others v. Norway [GC], § 84; Lautsi and Others v. Italy [GC], § 59; 
Osmanoğlu and Kocabaş v. Switzerland, §§ 90-93)”. 
 
The Act provisions ensure that RVE is mandatory and that all children in all maintained 
schools and settings have access to pluralistic RVE.  There is no right to withdraw from 
RVE and RVE must be designed having regard to the agreed syllabus and the Welsh 
Ministers’ statutory guidance.  
 
 
Community schools and foundation and voluntary schools without a religious 
character 
 
In the case of community schools and foundation and voluntary schools without a religious 
character, The Act requires the provision in the curriculum for teaching and learning 
encompassing RVE to have been designed having regard to the agreed syllabus. (The 
“agreed syllabus” in the context of the Schedule is the RVE syllabus adopted by the local 
authority under section 375A of the 1996 Act for use in schools maintained by the authority.) 
The Act requires this RVE provision to be implemented for all pupils. 
 
Foundation and voluntary controlled schools that have a religious character 
 
In the case of foundation and voluntary controlled schools with a religious character, The 
Act requires the provision in the curriculum for teaching and learning encompassing RVE  to 
have been designed having regard to the agreed syllabus.  
 
However, in the case of these schools, there is an additional requirement. This additional 
requirement applies only if the provision that has been designed having regard to the 
agreed syllabus does not accord with the school’s trust deed, or the tenets of its religion or 
religious denomination.  
 
The first step in determining whether this additional requirement applies will be to consider 
whether the provision designed having regard to the agreed syllabus accords with any 
provision in the school’s trust deed that relates to teaching and learning in respect of RVE. If 
there is not any provision in the trust deed that relates to teaching and learning in respect of 
RVE, the next step will be to consider whether the provision accords with the tenets of the 
religion or denomination specified in relation to the school by an order under section 68A of 
the 1998 Act. Only if the provision does not accord with the trust deed or the relevant tenets 
will the additional requirement apply. If this additional requirement applies, the school’s 
curriculum must also include provision for RVE that does accord with the school’s trust 
deed, or the tenets of its religion or religious denomination. 
 
The Act requires the teaching and learning secured for pupils to be designed having regard 
to the agreed syllabus. But there is an exception to this general requirement which enables 
a pupil’s parents to request that their child be provided, instead, with the additional provision 
that accords with the school’s trust deed, or the tenets of its religion or denomination. If a 
request of this type is made, it must be complied with. 
 
Voluntary aided schools that have a religious character 
 
In the case of voluntary aided schools with a religious character, The Act requires the 
curriculum to make provision for teaching and learning in respect of RVE that accords with 
the school’s trust deed or the tenets of its religion or denomination.  

Tudalen 18



 

 
 

 
Again, there is an additional requirement. For schools of this type, the additional 
requirement applies only if the provision that has been designed (i.e., which accords with 
the trust deed or tenets of the school’s religion or denomination) does not accord with the 
agreed syllabus. In this case, the school’s curriculum must also include provision for RVE 
that has been designed having regard to the agreed syllabus.  
 
The Act requires the teaching and learning secured for pupils to be that for which provision 
accords with the school’s trust deed or its religion or denomination.  
 
But again there is an exception to this general requirement which enables a pupil’s parents 
to request that their child be provided, instead, with the additional provision designed having 
regard to the agreed syllabus). If a request of this type is made, it must be complied with. 
 
Changes to the constitution of Agreed Syllabus Conference and SACREs 
 
The Act provides for the appointment of persons who represent holders of non-religious 
philosophical beliefs in the same way as they permit the appointment of persons who 
represent holders of religious beliefs.  
It is a matter for the Local Authority to decide on the appointment of appropriate persons.  
The final decision on an appointment is dependent on the relevant local authority’s 
determination that such a representative would help ensure the relevant traditions of the 
area are appropriately reflected.  SACREs will be re-named Standing Advisory Councils for 
RVE (SACs). 
 
The local authority must take all reasonable steps to secure that the membership of the 
group is numerically proportionate to the strength of each religion, denomination, or 
conviction in its local area (see new subsection (6A) and (6B) if section 390 inserted by 
paragraph 9(8) if the Schedule. Separate statutory guidance will be provided in respect of 
the constitution of SACREs (SACs). 
 
RVE Post 16 

 

This is no longer mandatory by virtue of The Act provisions.  Pursuant to section 61 of The 

Act all learners over the age of 16 will now be able to opt into RVE, where previously there 

was a requirement for all learners in sixth form to study religious education If a learner 

chooses to opt into RVE then the school or college must provide RVE which is objective, 

critical and pluralistic.  This approach is consistent with the principle that learners of 

sufficient maturity should be able to make decisions that relate to their own learning.  

 

Where a learner request RVE pursuant to section 61 the RVE must be designed so that it: 

• must reflect the fact that the religious traditions in Wales are in the main Christian 

while taking account of the teaching and practices of the other principal religions 

represented in Wales; and 

• must also reflect the fact that a range of non-religious philosophical convictions are 

held in Wales 

 

The Act further provides that the reference to philosophical convictions is to philosophical 

convictions within the meaning of Article 2 Protocol 1 to the European Convention on 

Human Rights (“A2P1”). 

 

Tudalen 19



 

 
 

Please see paragraphs above for an explanation of what is meant by religions, religious 

traditions and non-religious philosophical convictions. 

 

Section 61 of The Act does not prevent a school from imposing a requirement that all pupils 

in its sixth form undertake compulsory RVE classes; nor does it prevent a school that 

adopts this approach from providing compulsory sixth form RVE that accords with the 

school’s trust deeds, or the tenets of its religion, or religious denomination (“denominational 

RVE”). The content of such denominational RVE remains a matter for the school. 

 
Education delivered in funded non-maintained nursery settings  
 
RVE provision in a funded non-maintained nursery setting should be considered as part of 
an overarching holistic approach to learning and development. The ‘Designing your 
curriculum’ section of this guidance provides further information on RVE for ages 3 to 16, to 
support practitioners in these settings with this holistic approach.  
 
Young learners are endlessly curious; they enjoy exploring and investigating by themselves 
and with others, and naturally ask questions about life and the world around them. Through 
engaging, practical, integrated activities, in this period of learning they can begin to learn 
more about themselves, other people and the wider world.  
 
Effective, learner-centred pedagogy, which is responsive, dynamic and embedded in strong 
relationships, should be central to the development of RVE provision in a setting. Through 
play, children are able to develop their ideas, opinions and feelings with imagination, 
creativity and sensitivity, which can help inform their view of the world. Spending time 
outdoors supports learners’ social, emotional, spiritual and physical development, as well as 
their well-being. Being outdoors also helps them to develop an awareness of the need to 
show care and respect for living things. 
 
Learners in this period of learning are beginning to understand the concept of ‘difference’. 
Practitioners should encourage them to share their knowledge and experiences of their own 
beliefs, heritage and traditions, as well as those of others (for example, through songs, 
stories and role-play). This can help young learners understand more about themselves, as 
well as about experiences and viewpoints which may differ from their own. 
 
A supportive, nurturing environment, where learners can learn about each other’s 
differences and similarities, can help them to begin to develop respectful relationships and a 
sense of responsibility. They can begin to explore the language of rights and start to 
understand their right to believe different things and follow different beliefs. Through this, 
learners from an early age can begin to identify and understand how their actions may affect 
others, and learn to reflect on and revise their own perspectives, as appropriate.  
 
  

3. How RVE Supports the Four Purposes 

At the heart of the Curriculum for Wales are the four purposes, which set out the aspirations 
for all learners. By the age of 16, they should be: 

 ambitious, capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives 

 enterprising, creative contributors, ready to play a full part in life and work 

 ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the world  

 healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead fulfilling lives as valued members of 
society. https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/ 

Tudalen 20

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/


 

 
 

 
These 4 purposes are set out in section 2(2) of The Act.  

 
RVE makes an important and distinctive contribution to supporting the four purposes by 
giving learners opportunities to: 

 engage with and explore ultimate and philosophical questions about the meaning, 

significance and purpose of life, and about the nature of human thought and of the 

universe, and the connections between them 

 undertake enquiries and engage with sources of wisdom and philosophy that 

encourage them to explore the challenges, opportunities and responses of human 

beings in the context of their cynefin, locally, in Wales and the wider world, as well as 

support them in evaluating their own perspectives and those of others  

 develop and express their own informed viewpoints, which prepares them for lifelong 

learning in a pluralistic and diverse world. 

 use their knowledge and understanding of both institutional and personal religious 

and non-religious worldviews to think critically about their own values and about how 

they might make important social and personal decisions 

 explore the ways in which religion and non-religious philosophical convictions have 

influenced human experience throughout history, so that they can make sense of 

their place in the world, imagine possible futures and create responsible solutions 

that take in to account the diverse needs and rights of all people  

 evaluate and use evidence from a range of religious and non-religious sources to 

engage with ethical and moral issues, past and contemporary, that challenge their 

knowledge and values. This enables learners to develop an understanding of religion 

and belief, culture, community, their cynefin, Wales and the wider world now and in 

the past, which can help to nurture a sense of place and belonging 

 respond sensitively to religion and non-religious philosophical convictions and 

explore the beliefs and practices of people in their community, Wales and the wider 

world, and how these might impact their actions and choices 

 develop secure values and establish their ethical beliefs and spirituality through the 

exploration of religion and non-religious philosophical convictions on a range of 

issues, which can in turn enable them to form positive relationships based upon trust 

and mutual respect 

 discuss and reflect on their own perspectives and those of others on a range of  

issues which, help them to build their mental, emotional and spiritual well-being by 

developing confidence, resilience and empathy. 

 
 

4.  Spiritual Development   

One of the features of the four purposes of the curriculum is that learners will be supported 
to develop as healthy, confident individuals, ready to live fulfilling lives as valued members 
of society. Opportunities are provided for spiritual development in the statements of what 
matters for the Humanities Area and RVE has many valuable and distinctive contributions to 
make.  
 
In the context of RVE spiritual development is concerned with our natural ability to look for, 
express and understand what is important in life, and to question who we are and why we 
are here. Spiritual development may or may not involve religion. Through experiencing and 
reflecting on our relationships, spiritual development may be apparent in the following: 

Tudalen 21



 

 
 

awareness of self in relation to others; connections to the wider or natural world (and, for 
some people, to a higher power or ultimate reality); creativity and going beyond the 
everyday; exploration of ultimate questions and contemplation of meaning and purpose.  
 
Awareness of self in relation to others 
 
Learners can: 
 

 develop a sense of their uniqueness and value; 

 reflect upon their own beliefs, values and actions and express and justify their own 
feelings and opinions; 

 develop aspirations and learn to live with disappointment; 

 show empathy and consideration for others; 

 develop compassion and help others; 

 develop a voice and listen with respect to the voices of others; 

 form good relationships;  

 talk about themselves in relation to others, the world and/or a higher power or 
ultimate reality; 

 gain awareness of and respect for the beliefs, teachings and practices of others, as 
well as an ability to articulate their own;  

 explore how religious and non-religious worldviews impact on the lives of 
individuals, the local community and wider society.  

 
Connections to the wider or natural world 
 
Learners can: 
 

 develop an appreciation of belonging in their locality, Wales and the wider world; 

 experience the natural world, value the environment and work toward sustainable 
futures for all; 

 experience the richness of the stimuli around them through use of the senses; 

 experience being present in the moment; 

 develop awareness of the world around them and their place within it;  

 make sense of their experience of the natural world and of human relationships. 

Creativity and going beyond the everyday 
 
Learners can: 
 

 develop creativity and use their imagination;  

 experience awe and wonder or be amazed by things;  

 foster curiosity and develop insight. 
 

 
Exploration of ultimate questions and contemplation of meaning and purpose  
Learners can: 
 

 ask, consider and reflect on ultimate questions (the ‘big’ questions about life);  

 discover meaning and purpose in their own lives;  

 experience that which is beyond the ordinary. 

Tudalen 22



 

 
 

 
Spiritual development can also occur as learners engage with their cynefin and in everyday 

life within their local, national and global communities. 

 
 
5. Designing Your Curriculum 

Each school will need to decide its own approach to curriculum design in the Humanities 
Area and to how RVE best works within it. For example, curriculum design can be 
integrated, multidisciplinary, interdisciplinary or disciplinary. This approach should be 
evaluated regularly in line with the Curriculum for Wales framework guidance.  
 
Before any detailed planning can begin, it is essential for practitioners to have first 
considered the statements of what matters in the Humanities Area, which contribute to 
learners realising the four purposes of the curriculum. https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-
wales/humanities/statements-of-what-matters/ 
 
The statements of what matters in this Area allow learners to explore and critically engage 
with a broad range of religious and non-religious concepts, which should be carefully 
considered and underpin school curriculum design.  
 
School curriculum design should: 
 

 develop an understanding of the discipline and its value; 

 provide rich contexts for learners to be curious, to explore ultimate questions, and to 

search for an understanding of the human condition, as well as providing 

opportunities for learners to reflect, and to experience awe and wonder, in a range of 

meaningful real-world contexts; 

 develop rich contexts for enquiry into the concepts of religion, lived religion, 

worldviews, secularity, spirituality, life stance, identity, and culture to develop 

learners’ well-rounded understanding of religious and non-religious worldviews; 

 provide rich contexts for engaging with concepts of belief, faith, truth, purpose, 

meaning, knowledge, sources of authority, self, origin, life, death and Ultimate Reality 

which can enables learners to develop an understanding of personal and institutional 

worldviews about the nature of life and the world around them; 

 develop rich contexts for exploring the concepts of identity, belonging, relationships, 

community, cynefin, diversity, pluralism and interconnectedness which can enable 

learners to gain a sense of self and develop spirituality; 

 explore the concepts of equality, sustainability, tolerance, freedom, prejudice, 

discrimination, extremism, good and evil which can give learners an insight into the 

challenges and opportunities that face societies; 

 reflect the concepts and contexts of religiosity, practice, ritual, tradition, worship, 

sacredness, symbolism and celebration to develop learners’ understanding of religion 

and belief; 

 provide rich contexts for exploring the concepts of ethics, morality, justice, 

responsibilities, authority, humanity, rights, values and social action. 

Tudalen 23

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/statements-of-what-matters/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/statements-of-what-matters/
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/statements-of-what-matters/


 

 
 

This guidance considers and identifies some relevant lenses through which to view RVE 
concepts. These lenses lend themselves to the statements of what matters and are also 
relevant to other Areas of Learning and Experience. The lenses are interconnected and are 
not intended to be units or topics. They are provided to help schools and settings 
understand some significant aspects of RVE and to help them identify opportunities for RVE 
within the statements of what matters to support school curriculum design.   
 
Lenses in RVE include: 
 

 Search for meaning and purpose 
How people respond to the deeper questions of life in order to understand the human 
condition.  
 

 The natural world and living things   
How and why people show concern and responsibility for the world and experience 
awe and wonder in nature. 
 

 Identity and belonging  
What makes us who we are as people, communities and citizens living in a diverse 
world. 
 

 Authority and influence 
How and why different types of authority influence people’s lives. 
 

 Relationships and responsibility  
How people live together, and why developing healthy relationships is important.  
 

 Values and ethics 
How and why people make moral choices and how this influences their actions. 
 

 The journey of life 
What people experience as part of the journey of life, and how these experiences are 
acknowledged. 

 

Learner progression is an important driver for designing your curriculum.  
  
This is reflected in the statements of what matters and their related descriptions of learning 
for this Area. The descriptions of learning for the Humanities will help to provide more 
detailed guidance for practitioners. 

In order to develop a shared understanding of progression from ages 3 to 16 in relation to 
RVE within this Area, an example ‘learning journey’ for each lens is provided. All of the 
statements of what matters in this Area are evident across the learning journeys. These 
learning journeys illustrate how a learner may develop their understanding of concepts in 
RVE through various lenses, and may be useful when designing your curriculum, alongside 
the descriptions of learning for the Humanities. These examples do not provide an 
alternative set of descriptions of learning, nor do they provide specific reference points or 
criteria for the pace of progression, and should not be used as such. 

 
 

Tudalen 24

https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/principles-of-progression
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/descriptions-of-learning


 

 
 

Example Learning Journey 1: Search for meaning and purpose   
 

The learning journey for this lens has drawn mainly upon two statements of what matters: 
Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and represented in 
different ways and Human societies are complex and diverse, and shaped by human actions 
and beliefs. There are connections with other statements of what matters and with other areas of 
learning and experience that can also be explored through this lens.  

The descriptions of learning will help to provide more detailed guidance on progression. 

This journey is about the deeper questions of life. At the early stages of learning, learners 
begin to ask deeper questions about themselves and others, and about the natural world 
and living things around them (e.g. Who am I? Why do things die?), as well as listening to 
the opinions of others. Further along their journey, they gather and discuss religious and 
non-religious insights and consider their own and others’ opinions, viewpoints and 
interpretations with increasing sophistication. Later, issues of truth, meaning, purpose and 
value can be debated and evaluated as learners engage more deeply with a range of 
challenging questions on these issues (e.g. the existence of good and evil, the nature of 
suffering, the use of wealth). They can recognise that responses to such questions are 
complex, as well as often partial and inconclusive.  
 
This journey is also about influence, continuity and change. At the early stages of their 
learning journey, learners begin to know and express what they like and dislike, what makes 
them happy and sad, and what their hopes and dreams are for the future, as well as 
responding to the ideas of others. Further along their journey, they can identify and discuss 
religious and non-religious insights concerning human feelings and needs, including what 
influences these and how they are expressed in their own and other people’s lives. Later, 
learners can come to recognise both continuity and change in responses to questions about 
meaning and purpose in life, both in their own lives and in society and culture, across time 
and place. They evaluate relevant contemporary values and ideas of self-worth from 
religious and non-religious perspectives.  
 
This journey is also about human quests and contributions. At the early stages of their 
learning journey, learners begin to show an awareness of the people and the ‘big ideas’ that 
have shaped their local places and everyday lives. Further along their journey, they imagine 
and discuss what they may contribute both now and in the future, and increasingly engage 
with the relationship between aspiration and practice, while considering a variety of 
contributions from religious and non-religious sources. Later, as learners’ understanding 
develops, they can make increasingly complex connections among aspects of health and 
well-being, the needs and demands of the world today, and their own search for meaning 
and purpose.  
 
Example Learning Journey 2: The natural world and living things   
 
The learning journey for this lens has mainly drawn upon two statements of what matters: 
Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by processes and human actions and 
Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities that face humanity, 
and are able to take considered and ethical action. There are connections with other statements 

Tudalen 25



 

 
 

of what matters and with other areas of learning and experience that can also be explored 
through this lens.  

The descriptions of learning will help to provide more detailed guidance on progression. 

This journey is about care, concern and respect. At the early stages of their learning 
journey, learners begin to show care and respect for the natural world and living things 
around them. Further along their journey, they can identify how and why they and others 
show care, concern and respect, as well as considering religious and non-religious 
perspectives. Later, with increasing sophistication, learners can come to raise, and consider 
critically, ethical questions related to human activity, nature and place, engaging with 
religious and non-religious responses, as well as their own responses.  
 
This journey is also about awe and wonder. At the early stages of their learning journey, 
learners begin to experience awe and wonder in nature, which develops as they explore the 
world around them, observing and asking questions. Further along their journey, a sense of 
the complexity of life and its interconnectedness grows as well as a sense of active 
responsibility. Later, experiences of awe and wonder are nuanced by deeper and more 
wide-ranging engagement with others and with place, as well as with the natural world and 
living things.  
 
This journey is also about responsibility and action. At the early stages of their learning 
journey, learners begin to show an awareness of the variety of living things beyond 
themselves, and that their actions can impact these. Further along their journey, they can 
come to know religious and non-religious ‘stories’ about local places, the natural world and 
living things, and how these relate to themselves and others. Through religious and non-
religious narratives (e.g. about the origins of the world), learners can learn about different 
philosophies important to our understanding of the world and the place of humans within it. 
Later, with increasing sophistication, they become able to recognise how values and beliefs 
are reflected in action, from religious and non-religious perspectives, and how these relate 
to their own experiences.  
 
This journey is also about place and space. At the early stages of their learning journey, 
learners begin to recognise that they are located in place and space, and this has meaning 
for them. Further along their journey, they recognise that places and spaces around them 
mean different things to different people, as well as considering places of special 
significance for religious or non-religious reasons. Later, learners can come to identify and 
explain various contested places (religious and non-religious), appreciating sensitivities 
surrounding place. They can understand the complexity of debates and of influences such 
as, identity, authority, values, ethics and considerations of meaning and purpose in life.  
 
Example Learning Journey 3: Values and ethics   
 
The learning journey for this lens has drawn mainly upon two statements of what matters: 
Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and represented in 
different ways and Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges and opportunities 
that face humanity, and are able to take considered and ethical action. There are connections 
with other statements of what matters and with other areas of learning and experience that can 
also be explored through this lens.  
 
The descriptions of learning will help to provide more detailed guidance on progression. 
 

Tudalen 26



 

 
 

This journey is about what people value. At the early stages of their learning journey, 
learners begin to identify what is of value to them (e.g. fairness, trust, love, life and 
kindness) and they listen to the opinions of others. They can recognise the need to respect 
others and can show what this looks like in their everyday lives. Further along their journey, 
learners become aware of different interpretations and expressions of common values, 
appreciating a variety of religious and non-religious influences. They learn how some values 
and rights have changed over time. As their knowledge and experience grows, learners can 
come to discuss a variety of religious and non-religious perspectives on instances of 
inequality and injustice, as well as the challenges of identifying and protecting human rights. 
Later they are increasingly able to form, defend and review their ethical positions on matters 
of religious and non-religious significance (e.g. the sanctity of life, freedom of speech, 
animal welfare, and war).  
 
This journey is also about beliefs, actions and consequences. At the early stages of their 
learning journey, learners begin to show an understanding of ‘right’ and ‘wrong’ and how 
their actions and feelings relate to this. Further along their journey, with increasing breadth 
and sophistication they can explain how their actions may have consequences for 
themselves and others, and for the world and living things, drawing on insights from a 
variety of religions and non-religious philosophical convictions. Later, they can come to 
postulate and evaluate the factors that influence their attitudes, behaviours and actions, and 
those of others, including factors relating to religious and non-religious belief and practice.  
 
This journey is also about decision-making. At the early stages of their learning journey, 
learners begin to recognise basic moral dilemmas and offer solutions. Further along their 
journey, they can learn rules and codes of behaviour (both religious and non-religious) 
relevant to them and to others around them, and they can explain their impact on people’s 
lives. Later, with increasing sophistication, learners can come to identify and critically 
discuss the responsibilities and challenges of decision-making, showing understanding of 
relevant figures, processes and institutions that form part of decision-making, in both 
religious and non-religious contexts. Learners identify opportunities where appropriate moral 
action is needed in their communities, Wales and the wider world. 
 
Example Learning Journey 4: Identity and belonging 
 
The learning journey for this lens has mainly drawn upon drawn upon two statements of 
what matters: Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted 
and represented in different ways and Human societies are complex and diverse, and 
shaped by human actions and beliefs. There are connections with other statements of what 
matters and with other areas of learning and experience that can also be explored through 
this lens. 
 
The descriptions of learning will help to provide more detailed guidance on progression. 
 
This journey is about what makes people who they are. At the early stages of their learning 
journey, learners begin to show an awareness of who they are and that they are similar and 
different from others. Further along their learning journey, they discuss what can form 
identity (e.g. relationships, lifestyles, beliefs, place) and how these influence people and 
their communities. Later, learners can review and evaluate a range of religious and non-
religious philosophies, life stances, and practices concerned with what it means to be 
human, and they can form and critically consider their own perspectives. 
 

Tudalen 27



 

 
 

This journey is also about communities, contributions and diversity. At the early stages of 
their learning journey, learners begin to understand that they are part of various groups and 
communities and what belonging looks like. They are aware of diversity within relevant 
communities and that their experiences of belonging are similar and different to others. 
Further along their learning journey, they can explore expressions of belonging in a range of 
religious and non-religious contexts. They can discuss the significance of belonging in 
people’s lives, including their own. Later, with increasing sophistication, learners can come 
to identify and evaluate relationships between belonging, commitment and contributions to 
society, culture and wellbeing. 
 
This journey is also about place, time and relationships. At the early stages of their learning 
journey, learners begin to be aware that they exist in place and time, and this shapes them 
and the communities around them. Further along their learning journey, they can explore 
interactions between a range of communities and societies locally and more widely, and 
they can discuss the contributions of identity and belonging from religious and non-religious 
perspectives. They can come to recognise continuity and change in identity and belonging, 
and how these are experienced personally and collectively. Later, learners can investigate 
and evaluate relationships and interdependencies between a range of groups, communities, 
and societies (locally, nationally and globally) and how these impact on human life and the 
natural world. They can critically consider the roles of identity and belonging in 
understanding and responding to shared contemporary issues from religious and non-
religious perspectives.  
 
Example Learning Journey 5: Authority and influence 
 
The learning journey for this lens has mainly drawn upon three statements of what matters: 
Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and 
represented in different way, Human societies are complex and diverse, and shaped by 
human actions and beliefs, and Informed, self-aware citizens engage with the challenges 
and opportunities that face humanity, and are able to take considered and ethical action. 
There are connections with other statements of what matters and with other areas of 
learning and experience that can also be explored through this lens. 
 
The descriptions of learning will help to provide more detailed guidance on progression. 
 
This journey is about authorities and influences. At the early stages of their learning journey, 
learners begin to recognise that they are influenced by some important people, and that this 
affects how they feel, think and behave. Further along their learning journey, they can 
identify and explore different sources of authority within religious and non-religious contexts 
(e.g. leaders, relationships, texts, codes of behaviour, traditions). They can come to 
understand that sources of authority influence people’s lives in a variety of ways. Later, as 
learners’ understanding develops, they can analyse and evaluate complex relationships that 
exist between and across sources of authority (including their own). They can come to 
critically consider the authority of religious and spiritual experience and conscience, in the 
past and present, and their impact on people, society and culture. 
 
This journey is also about experiences and interpretations. At the early stages of their 
learning journey, learners begin to be aware of important influences in the lives of others, 
and that their experiences are similar and different from their own. Further along their 
learning journey, they can explore how sources of authority are interpreted in different ways 
by various people and groups, within religious and non-religious contexts. They can come to 
recognise influences on interpretations and that some sources of authority carry more 

Tudalen 28



 

 
 

weight than others for different people, groups and societies. Later, learners can draw on 
multiple sources of authority to evaluate religious and non-religious interpretations of issues 
relevant to the human condition, and they can present their own informed positions. They 
can critically consider how and why experiences and concepts of authority may change over 
time. 
 
This journey is also about choices and actions. At the early stages of their learning journey, 
learners begin to understand that their actions can be affected by choices. They can show 
awareness of influences on their choices. Further along their learning journey, they can 
come to recognise how people and communities draw on religious and non-religious 
sources of authority to guide them in their lives and to inform important decisions. Later, as 
learners’ understanding develops, they are able to use their knowledge and understanding 
of a range of sources of authority to engage critically in contemporary ethical issues or 
debates, and to influence possible actions and outcomes (e.g. challenge, consensus, 
reconciliation). 
 
Example Learning Journey 6: Relationships and responsibility 
 
The learning journey for this lens has mainly drawn upon two statements of what matters: 
Our natural world is diverse and dynamic, influenced by processes and human actions, and 
Human societies are complex and diverse, and shaped by human actions and beliefs. There 
are connections with other statements of what matters and with other areas of learning and 
experience that can also be explored through this lens. 
 
The descriptions of learning will help to provide more detailed guidance on progression. 
 
This journey is about how people live together. At the early stages of their learning journey, 
learners begin to understand that they live in a number of relationships. They are aware of 
what helps them to live with others. They can offer opinions about how disagreements can 
be resolved. Further along their learning journey, they can identify and discuss how the 
importance of relationships (personal, social, environmental and transcendental) is 
expressed in people’s lives, drawing on religious and non-religious contexts. Later, learners 
can come to recognise that relationships are dynamic and complex. They can critically 
consider influences that can contribute to harmony and discord globally, locally and 
personally (including religious and non-religious influences). They can review and evaluate 
challenges presented by relationships, drawing on a range of religious and non-religious 
insights and experiences. 
 
This journey is also about responsibilities and interconnectedness. At the early stages of 
their learning journey, learners begin to be aware of connections between their own lives 
and the lives of other people, the natural world and living things. They can show 
responsibility towards others through simple actions. Further along their learning journey, 
they can identify how and why people show responsibility for people and places outside 
their personal relationships. They can discuss important material and non-material 
dimensions of relationships (including spiritual, religious, moral), and they can come to 
recognise connections with human growth and how people can live together responsibly in 
the world. Later, learners can come to develop critical appreciation of significant issues 
affecting relationships at a global level and they can imagine possible futures. They can 
critically engage with a range of religious and non-religious philosophies exploring 
interconnectedness in life, as well as the nature and understanding of human beings within 
it. 
 

Tudalen 29



 

 
 

This journey is also about well-being, identity and inclusion. At the early stages of their 
learning journey, learners begin to be aware of their own experiences and feelings when 
they engage in activities with others. They can recognise that other people have 
experiences and feelings too, which are different and similar to their own. They show 
curiosity about other people’s lives. Further along their learning journey, they can explore 
how action can involve significant commitment and sacrifice (past and present) and have 
major effects on the lives and wellbeing of others and the wider world. They can come to 
recognise connections between actions and identity, including religious and non-religious 
influences. They can identify unfairness and inequality in their own personal lives and in 
wider society and suggest appropriate challenges. Later, learners can critically consider 
what healthy relationships may look like and their contributions to wellbeing, drawing on a 
range of religious and non-religious perspectives. They can come to understand and 
evaluate relationships between personal identity and relevant group identity.  
 
Example Learning Journey 7: The journey of life 
 
The learning journey for this lens has mainly drawn upon two statements of what matters: 
Events and human experiences are complex, and are perceived, interpreted and 
represented in different ways and Human societies are complex and diverse, and shaped by 
human actions and beliefs. There are connections with other statements of what matters 
and with other areas of learning and experience that can also be explored through this lens. 
 
The descriptions of learning will help to provide more detailed guidance on progression. 
 
This journey is about meaning, purpose and influence. At the early stages of their learning 
journey, learners begin to recognise that people have personal life stories. They start to tell 
their own life story. Further along their learning journey, they can explore a variety of paths 
through life that people have experienced, drawing on religious and non-religious contexts 
and influences. They can come to identify connections with meaning-making and purpose. 
Later, learners can analyse and critically consider the concept of vocation in the past and 
present from religious and non-religious perspectives. They can examine challenges 
encountered in people’s life trajectories and evaluate religious and non-religious responses.  
 
This journey is also about life stages and events. At the early stages of their learning 
journey, learners begin to be aware that they grow and change over time. They experience 
and compare how their own and other people’s growth is acknowledged and celebrated. 
They can show how their lives are connected to special times and seasons. Further along 
their learning journey, they can explore significant life events and rites of passage, and they 
can discuss the roles that these play in people’s lives by drawing on religious and non-
religious insights. Later, learners can analyse and critically discuss human ritual action in 
the marking of significant events and time. They can come to evaluate relevant philosophies 
of time from religious and non-religious perspectives and demonstrate how these may 
impact beliefs, practices and actions. 
 
This journey is also about physical and spiritual journeying. At the early stages of their 
learning journey, learners begin to recognise that they go on many different journeys for 
various reasons. They show interest in the journeys of other people and can see how they 
are similar and different from their own experiences. They are aware that journeys have 
physical features as well as non-material features. Further along their learning journey, they 
can explore people’s experiences of important journeys from religious and non-religious 
perspectives, and they can identify reasons for these journeys. They can come to 
understand that journeys are connected to place and time. They can imagine what an 

Tudalen 30



 

 
 

important journey might look like in their own lives. Later, learners can identify and evaluate 
relationships between physical and spiritual journeys and their effects on the lives of 
individuals, communities and wider society (e.g. identity, human formation, diversity, 
culture). They can critically consider the interconnectedness of journeys, landscapes and 
people across place and time, drawing on religious and non-religious contexts. 
 

Enriching learner experience in RVE   

Whichever approach is taken to curriculum design, schools and settings need to ensure rich 
learning in RVE across a broad range of experiences. Learning experiences are a central 
aspect of the philosophy of the Curriculum for Wales framework.  When designing their 
curriculum, schools and settings should ensure that a developmentally appropriate range of 
experiences relevant to RVE is provided for learners. 
These experiences can include opportunities to: 
 

 engage with religious and non-religious local communities, in ways that learners 

will enjoy and remember  

 engage in role play and participate in, or observe, activities such as celebrations 

or re-enactments  

 consider what influences people in their  response to ethical dilemmas, solve real 

and present problems, or explore past events 

 experience and reflect on the mystery, awe and wonder of the natural world, 

historical locations, and religious and cultural sites  

 observe and participate in cultural activities that help learners to understand 

human experiences. 

 handle and explore religious artefacts and objects, including sacred and other 

texts 

 visit local places of worship and other special places, landscapes and 

environments, including those with a significant religious and spiritual dimension 

 meet people for whom faith and belief is important, including those who 

experience lived religion and worldviews   

 ask big questions relating to higher powers/ultimate reality, the world, the 

meaning and purpose of life and of their own experiences 

 engage with religious and non-religious sources e.g. religious leaders, people of 

faith and belief, philosophers, places of worship, artefacts, sacred texts and 

philosophical writings. 

Enriching learner experience in RVE is also about schools and settings exploring their place 
within the local and wider community as an important step in designing their curriculum. 
This can be supported by schools and settings researching the faith and belief groups that 
are represented locally and across Wales, as well as sacred places and spaces, past and 
present. 
 
 
Key links with other Areas  
 
Curriculum design in schools and settings should explore clear links and interdependencies 
between RVE and the other areas of learning and experience as part of a holistic 
curriculum. https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/designing-your-
curriculum. These links and interdependencies should be drawn upon during curriculum 

Tudalen 31

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhwb.gov.wales%2Fcurriculum-for-wales&data=04%7C01%7CPauline.Smith%40gov.wales%7C4bf26be1137f48b7067308d88bae9ea9%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C637412929381157475%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=%2FRq%2BySekB%2B7r6ePnw1qn9arbBQRjWDkLkdh%2FCZuUJGw%3D&reserved=0
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/designing-your-curriculum
https://hwb.gov.wales/curriculum-for-wales/humanities/designing-your-curriculum


 

 
 

planning, with practitioners working creatively and collaboratively to support learners’ 
realisation of the four purposes of the curriculum. 
 

Checklist for schools and settings 
 
The following questions can be used by schools and settings when designing their 
curriculum for RVE. 
 

 Have you considered how RVE will work best within the Humanities Area? 

 Does your curriculum design for RVE support the realisation of the four purposes? 

 Have you used the statements of what matters for this Area to inform your 

curriculum design? 

 Have you used RVE concepts in your curriculum design? 

 Have you considered a range of lenses through which to view RVE concepts to 

support curriculum design? 

 Have you considered progression in RVE, using the descriptions of learning in the 

Humanities Area? 

 Have you considered the ’learning journeys’ provided to support your understanding 

of progression in relation to RVE? 

 Have you reflected on the possible learning journeys of your own learners to support 

curriculum design for RVE? 

 Have you included opportunities in your curriculum design for enriching learner 

experience in RVE? 

 Have you made key links between RVE and the other areas of learning and 
experience? 

 Have you included opportunities for learners’ spiritual development in RVE? 

 Does your curriculum design for RVE ensure an appropriate depth, breadth and 

quality of learning? 

Tudalen 32


	Rhaglen
	3 Cofnodion
	5 Ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth Cymru ar ganllawiau Cwricwlwm Cymru ynghylch Crefydd, Gwerthoedd a Moeseg

